FILED

SID J. WHITE

JAN 9 1995

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By_____

Chief Deputy Clerk

ROBIN ARCHER,

Appellant,

ν.

CASE NO. 83,258

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 271543

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is a capital resentencing appeal. Robin Archer was one of four defendants involved in the 1991 murder of an Auto Parts Store clerk. One of the other defendants, Patrick Bonifay, the actual killer, was convicted of the murder and sentenced to death. His conviction was affirmed, but like Archer's death sentence, his was also reversed and his case remanded. <u>Bonifay v. State</u>, 626 So. 2d 1310 (Fla. 1993). The most troubling issues deal with the court's instructions to the jury, and several issues focus on what guidance the court did or did not give the jury.

-1-

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An indictment filed in the circuit court for Escambia County on February 26, 1991 charged Robin Archer, Larry Fordham, Clifford Barth, and Patrick Bonifay with one count of first degree murder, one count of armed robbery, and one count of grand theft (R 1-2). Archer proceeded to trial and was found guilty as charged on all of the counts and sentenced to death. On appeal, this court affirmed the convictions, but reversed the death sentence and remanded for a new sentencing hearing before a jury. <u>Archer v. State</u>, 613 So. 2d 446 (Fla. 1993).

On remand, the defendant filed several motions relevant to this appeal:

1. Motion for Determination that Section 921.141(7), F.S. is Unconstitutional and to Preclude Evidence or Argument on Victim Impact.

2. Motion to exclude Victim Impact Evidence and any Argument by the Prosecutor Related Thereto.

3. Motion to Prohibit Application of Florida Statute 921.141(7).

(R 68-79). The court denied all of them (T 192-93).

Archer proceeded to the resentencing before Judge T. Michael Jones. After selecting a jury, they heard evidence, argument and instructions regarding the sentence they should recommend. They returned a death recommendation by a vote of 7-5 (R 89). The court followed that advice and sentenced Archer to death. In aggravation, it found,

1. The murder was committed during the

-2-

course of a robbery.

2. It was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of legal or moral justification (R 140-42).

In mitigation, the court found that Archer had no significant history of prior criminal activity (R 142). It also held that the defendant had been a loving son to his parents and a good family member to other relatives (R 144).

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Most of the facts presented here come from the state's star witness, Patrick Bonifay, who was also a co-defendant with Archer. His version of what happened was seriously challenged by other witnesses, and where his story varies with what others claimed happened, the differences will be indicated either in a footnote or at the end of the facts.

Robin Archer, the defendant in this case, had worked at one of the several Trout Auto Parts stores in Pensacola but had been fired (T 243). One of the employees, Daniel Wells, may have had something to do with the lay off (T 243). It is not known what the defendant did for the next several months, but later he attended a motorcycle school in Daytona Beach (T 417). He eventually returned, but apparently because he did not have any money or a job he stayed with friends, relatives, and acquaintances (T 345-46, 270). Even his girlfriend had to loan him money (T 348).

On Thursday January 24, 1991 Bonifay claimed Archer, who was his stepcousin (T 330), asked him to kill Wells because he had been instrumental in getting him fired from Trout Auto Parts (T 335). He showed Bonifay a briefcase full of money, estimated at \$500,000, which the defendant said would be his if he did what he asked (T 331, 346). Archer told his cousin to make the murder look like a robbery by taking the money from the cash till and the drop boxes used by the employees from the other stores to deposit receipts at the end of the day (T

-4-

333-34). He also warned him about the security camera at the store.

The next night Bonifay got a gun,¹ and two other men, Clifford Barth and Eddie Fordham, drove to the W Street branch of Trout Auto Parts. While the two other men waited in the car, Bonifay walked up to the night counter and asked Wells, who was the clerk, for a car part. Wells turned his back to Bonifay and heard him cock the gun (T 245).² Bonifay did not shoot Wells but returned to the car instead, and the trio drove away.

On Saturday, Bonifay told Archer that he did not want to kill anyone, but the defendant threatened to hurt the co-defendant's mother and girlfriend if he did not go through with the murder (T 336).³ Bonifay relented and he, Barth, and Fordham returned to the parts store that night. Wells, however, was not the clerk. Instead, Wayne Coker was filling in for him because Wells was sick (T 248-49).

Bonifay and Barth went to the night window, and the latter grabbed Bonifay by the arm causing him to shoot Coker in the

¹Bonifay went to a Kelly Bland to get a weapon, but Bland said he had given his gun to Archer (T 334). Bonifay then went to Archer who gave him the pistol (T 334).

²Bonifay denied cocking the gun (T 362) even though Barth testified that Bonifay did not kill Wells on Friday because he had heard the gun being cocked (T 205).

³Bonifay never revealed the threat Archer allegedly made until he testified at the defendant's trial (T 162).

back (T 338). Noticing that the clerk was still alive, Barth took the gun and shot him again (T 339-40).

The two boys climbed through the window, and Bonifay heard Coker say "something about some kids or something." Bonifay told him to be quiet (T 339).⁴ The pair cut the locks off the night box and took the receipts and other money they could find. Then, according to Bonifay, Barth told him that Coker was still alive, and he should kill him (T 339). So, Bonifay, because the victim had heard his name and had seen him (T 339), shot him two more times in the head (T 340), killing him.

The two young men got back into Fordham's car and sped away. They eventually stopped, threw away the checks, and divided the money three ways (T 341).

When Bonifay saw Archer the next day, the latter was giggling, and he refused to pay him because he had shot the wrong person (T 343). Bonifay did nothing because he was afraid of Archer (T 343). The previous night, however, he had been giddy with excitement, joking and laughing about what had happened (T 298).

The next night Archer heard about the robbery/murder, and he told Daniel Webber, an acquaintance he was staying with. that he knew who might have committed the crimes (T 271).

-6-

⁴According to Barth, Coker asked Bonifay not to "shoot him no more because he had kids and a wife, and he wouldn't say nothing to the police." Bonifay told him to "shut the fuck up and fuck your kids." (T 286)

Webber subsequently called the police (T 272). Some time later, Bonifay told Jennifer Tatum, Kelly Bland's girlfriend, that he had killed Coker, but he made not mention of either Archer's threats or the \$500,000 (T 409).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Robin Archer presents four arguments for this court to consider. The first three deal with the court's jury instructions. Specifically, the court never instructed the jury on the definition of reasonable doubt. Nor did it give them any of the general instructions contained in the standard jury instructions. The failure to provide any definition of reasonable doubt is particularly egregious, and the failure to object to this deficiency does not preclude this court from reviewing the lower court's error. Reasonable doubt, after all, is one of the hallmarks of the American criminal justice system. If the jury was told it could find particular aggravating factors only if the state had proven them beyond a reasonable doubt, it makes sense that they needed to be told what it is. They were, however, never given any definition of it.

The reasonable doubt instruction, however, was just one of several general instructions the court should have but did not provide the jury. Of the several omissions made by the court, the most egregious involved never providing them with any guidance regarding the weighing of the evidence, the inherent unreliability of accomplice testimony, or the warning about not holding Archer's not testifying against him. Not giving these instructions plus several other of them provide ample justification for this court to review the court's failure in this case without any consideration of the contemporaneous objection and harmless error rules.

-8-

Counsel did strongly object to the court's willingness to instruct the jury on the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating factor. He was correct because in <u>Jackson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly S215 (Fla. April 21, 1994) this court declared the standard jury instruction on that aggravator unconstitutional. Unlike the other cases this court has considered since <u>Jackson</u> that error was harmful. The state relied heavily on the CCP aggravator, and the jury's vote of 7-5 only emphasizes that the defective instruction may have improperly influenced at least one juror to recommend death.

Moreover, a harmless error analysis is inappropriate in this case because with a defective instruction this court can only speculate what the jury would have found had they been correctly guided.

Again over defense objection the court allowed the state to introduce evidence from the victim's wife about the effect Coker's death had on her, and the type of person her husband had been. Such a ruling was error because Section 921.141(7) Fla. Stats. (1992) does not allow victim impact evidence of this sort. Moreover, and more fundamentally, admitting such evidence, particularly when the jury is given no guidance on how to use it, undermines the confidence we have that the jury's recommendation will be channeled and its sentencing discretion adequately guided. Finally, applying this section to this crime violated federal and state prohibitions against ex post facto application of the law.

-9-

The court, despite Archer's request, refused to instruct the jury that its recommendation was entitled to great weight, as this court on numerous occasions has said. In light of the United States Supreme Court's opinion in Espinosa v. Florida, 505 U.S. ____, 112 S.Ct. 2928, 120 L.Ed.2d 854 (1992) that was error because the jury was not as substantially informed on the law regarding its verdict as the trial judge.

Archer asked the court to instruct the jury that they could consider his age of 26 as mitigation. While this court has ruled in other cases that that age was not a factor the trial court had to consider in weighing whether the defendant should live or die, in light of <u>Espinosa</u>, it was error for the court here to in effect direct a verdict against the defendant on this mitigator.

Finally, during voir dire the prosecutor asked which members of the panel could not recommend death for a defendant convicted of murder who was not the triggerman. The court then excused several members of the venire who could not recommend death under that situation. That was error because the state's question was an incorrect statement of the law. That is, under <u>Enmund v. Florida</u>, 458 U.S. 782, 102 S.Ct. 3368, 73 L.Ed.2d 1140 (1982) a defendant who is not the triggerman and who never intended for a murder to occur may not be sentenced to death. Here that situation was part of Archer's defense because he contended that at most all he ever told Bonifay was how to commit the robbery of Trout Auto Parts. He never contracted with him to kill Wells. Thus, the court excused prospective

-10-

jurors for an impermissible reason, and such error was not harmless.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON THE COLD, CALCULATED, AND PREMEDITATED AGGRAVATING FACTOR BECAUSE THAT GUIDANCE, AS THIS COURT HAS DECLARED, WAS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE, A VIOLATION OF ARCHER'S FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS.

At the penalty phase charge conference Archer objected to the standard instruction on the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating factor (T 425-30). He even had a proposed jury instruction that he believed passed constitutional muster (R 426, R 80-81). The court, however, refused to recognize the validity of his complaint or give the suggested guidance (T 436). That was error.

In <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly S215 (Fla. April 21, 1994), this court found that the standard jury instruction on the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating factor was unconstitutionally vague.

> Florida's standard CCP jury instruction suffers the same constitutional infirmity as the HAC-type instructions which the United States Supreme Court found lacking in Espinosa, Maynard, and Godfrey-the description of the CCP aggravator is "so vague as to leave the sentencer without sufficient guidance for determining the presence or absence of the factor." Espinosa, 112 S.Ct. at 2928.

Jackson, at 19 Fla. L. Weekly S217.

In this case the court gave the jury the same instruction on the CCP aggravator as the court in Jackson had read. The result should, therefore, be the same. The court erred, and this case should be remanded for a new sentencing hearing.

Ah, but what about finding the error harmless? This court refused to do so in <u>Jackson</u>, noting that the trial court found only two aggravators and several nonstatutory mitigators in sentencing the defendant to death. "[W]e cannot say beyond a reasonable doubt that the invalid CCP instruction did not affect the jury's consideration or that its recommendation would have been the same if the requested expanded instruction had been given." <u>Id</u>. The jury had also recommended death by only the slimmest of margins: 7-5.

This court has had no similar qualms in affirming death sentences in three other cases that have raised the same issue. In Fennie v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly S370 (Fla. July 7, 1994); Walls v. State, 641 So. 2d 381 (Fla. 1994); and Wuornos v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly S455 (Fla. September 22, 1994) this court recognized that the trial courts had given the unconstitutional instruction to the juries, and the various defendants had properly preserved the issue. Nevertheless, in each case the courts' errors were harmless. The reasons for these conclusions are obvious. In each case, unlike Jackson, the court found several other aggravators besides CCP. In Fennie, for example, the sentencer concluded that 1) the murder was committed while engaged in the commission of a kidnapping; 2) the crime was committed to avoid arrest; 3) the crime was committed for financial gain; 4) the crime was heinous, atrocious, or cruel, and 5) the crime was cold, calculated and

-13-

premeditated. <u>Fennie</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly at S370. The court also found some minor, nonstatutory mitigation. Finally, the jury in that case, as in <u>Walls</u> and <u>Wuornos</u>, unanimously recommended death.

Archer's case, using the analysis presented, has more similarities with Andrea Jackson's case than those of <u>Wuornos</u>, <u>Fennie</u>, and <u>Walls</u>. First, the court found only that the murder had been committed during the course of the robbery, and that it was cold, calculated, and premeditated. Second it recognized that Archer had no significant prior criminal record, a statutory mitigator. It also found that he had a loving relationship with his grandmother. Finally, the jury recommended death by a 7-5 vote. Thus, the error in reading the truncated instruction cannot be harmless beyond all reasonable doubts.

This court in <u>Fennie</u>, <u>Walls</u>, and <u>Wuornos</u>, also analyzed the evidence in those cases and concluded that had the jury been properly instructed it would have found the CCP aggravator applicable. While Archer argues below that is the wrong analytical approach, using it only fortifies the conclusion that the evidence does not prove beyond all reasonable doubt that Archer plotted the murder in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

The evidence connecting Archer to the murder came from Patrick Bonifay, the person who actually shot Coker. He claimed Archer offered to pay him a half million dollars to

-14-

kill Daniel Wells because the latter had had something to do with getting him fired from his job at Trout Auto Parts (T 335). Then when Bonifay tried to back out of the deal, Archer supposedly threatened to kill his girlfriend and mother if he did not murder Wells. Finally, he claimed Archer refused to pay him when he found out Bonifay had killed the wrong person. All the while Bonifay had a gun.

۰,

This evidence, while arguably showing a coldly premeditated desire to murder on Archer's part, could and probably was disregarded by the jury. First, that Archer had a half million dollars defies belief. No one other than Bonifay saw it. What is more, Archer's lifestyle of near poverty makes Bonifay's story ludicrous. We have, for example, Robin Archer with so little money that he has to live with friends (T 270), and borrow money to go to a trade school (T 417-18). His girl friend gave him money (T 348). Everyone who testified about Archer's status, except Bonifay, added to the picture that this young man never had two nickels to rub together.

Moreover, Bonifay's cold hearted murder of Coker as he told his victim to "shut the fuck up" and "fuck his family" exhibits this co-defendant's contempt for life (T 287).

The logic of Bonifay's story also defies credibility. Why would Archer, who had \$500,000 want to kill Wells for ostensibly getting him fired from a job that must have paid only a minimum wage salary. Why would he wait 18 months to have it done? Why would he have some one else do it? For a

-15-

man who had a lifetime's wages in a suitcase and who was willing to blow it on a murder, his story makes little sense.

What the evidence does show is that Archer told Bonifay how one could rob the Trout Auto Parts store. He never told Bonifay to do it, only how it could be done.

The jury nevertheless could have believed that Archer coldly, with calculation and premeditation planned the robbery. Then using the CCP definition given by the court (R 85), it could have concluded that because the robbery was cold, calculated, and premeditated, the murder was also. Such logic, while perhaps sufficient to support a conviction for guilt under a felony murder theory cannot carry the day with the CCP aggravator. As this court held in Hardwick v. State, 461 So. 2d 79, 81 (Fla. 1984), a planned robbery does not mean the resulting murder was also sufficiently premeditated for the CCP aggravator to apply. Thus, had the jury been properly instructed, it may not have concluded this factor applied, and with only one other aggravator applicable and some strong mitigation present, this court cannot say beyond a reasonable doubt that none of the seven jurors who voted for death would have remained steadfast in their opinion.

Such an analysis, however, goes against what the United States Supreme Court has determined the proper harmless error analysis should be for jury instruction issues. <u>Sullivan v.</u> <u>Louisiana</u>, 508 U.S. ____, 113 S.Ct. ____, 124 L.Ed.2d 182 (1993). In <u>Sullivan</u>, the trial court gave the jury an unconstitutional reasonable doubt instruction. The issue facing the nation's

-16-

high court was whether that error was harmless. A unanimous court not only said that it was reversible error, it also concluded that the mistake was not amenable to a harmless error analysis.

The court's rationale focussed on two constitutional guarantees: 1) The defendant has the right to have his guilt determined beyond a reasonable doubt, and 2) the jury is the one to make that decision. If the trial court instructed them on reasonable doubt using an unconstitutional instruction, "there has been no jury verdict within the meaning of the Sixth Amendment." Id. at 189. If the jury has not validly determined the defendant's guilt, a reviewing court cannot substitute its judgment for the body that has the constitutional obligation to do so under the guise of a harmless error analysis.

> There is no <u>object</u>, so to speak, upon which harmless-error scrutiny can operate. The most an appellate court can conclude is that a jury would surely have found petitioner guilty beyond a reasonable doubt-not that the jury's actual finding of guilty beyond a reasonable doubt would surely not have been absent the constitutional error. That is not enough. . . The Sixth Amendment requires more than appellate speculation about a hypothetical jury's action, or else directed verdicts for the State would be sustainable on appeal; it requires an actual finding of guilty.

Id. at 190 (cites omitted. emphasis in opinion.)

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