# FILED

SID J. WHITE

APR 13 1995

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

ROBIN ARCHER,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 83,258

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CURTIS M. FRENCH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 291692

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

####

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

The trial court's instructions authorized the jury to find CCP only if it found that:

The crime for which the defendant is to be <u>sentenced</u> was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification (R 85) (emphasis supplied).

Since the crime for which the defendant was to be sentenced was first-degree murder, the jury rationally could have found CCP only if it found that Archer coldly, and with calculation and premeditation planned a <u>murder</u>, not just a robbery. Nothing in the court's instructions, the lawyer's arguments or the jury's common sense could have authorized a CCP finding on any other theory. Thus, <u>Hardwick v. State</u>, 461 So.2d 79, 81 (Fla. 1984) is inapposite here.

The four elements of CCP were established here. Wuornos v. State, 644 So.2d 1000, 1008 (Fla. 1994). The first element cold - is obviously present. Archer coldly and calmly planned his crime; he did not act out of emotional frenzy, panic or fit of rage. The second element - careful plan or prearranged design to kill - is clearly established. As noted above, the state's "whole theory" of the case was that this was a murder for hire, and the evidence shows beyond a reasonable doubt a careful and well-detailed plan to commit that crime. Third, contract murders by their very nature involve heightened premeditation. Archer's plan proceeded over a period of several days and survived one aborted attempt. As the trial court noted, Archer had "ample time for reflection" (R 141). Finally, in this case, there is evidence, much less а colorable claim, "absolutely no establishing a pretense of moral or legal justification." Walls v. State, supra, 641 So.2d at 388.

Thus, any error in instructing the jury as to CCP is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because all four elements of this aggravator would exist under any definition.<sup>5</sup>

Although Archer does not raise an issue concerning the proportionality of his death sentence, the State would note that this Court has consistently approved death sentences imposed upon defendants who planned murder and enlisted others to carry out their plans. See e.g., Antone v. State, 382 So.2d 1205, 1216

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> <u>Sullivan v. Louisiana</u>, 508 U.S. \_\_, 113 S.Ct. \_\_, 124 L.Ed.2d 182 (1993) has nothing to do with the proper harmless error analysis for any "jury instruction" issues except the "reasonable doubt" jury instruction, and will be further discussed in the State's argument on Issue II.

(1980) ("Antone was the mastermind of this operation. He supplied the gun, paid the money from his pocket, and pressured Haskens to complete the task. . . . The death penalty was clearly an appropriate punishment in this case."); Williams v. State, 622 So.2d 456, 464 (Fla. 1993) ("Williams' sentence at death is not disparate with the death sentences received by the actual triggerman since he specifically directed them to kill the Heath v. State, 648 So.2d 660 (Fla. 1994) (Where victims."); defendant ordered his brother to kill the victim, the defendant's death sentence was not disproportionate to life sentence imposed upon his brother, who was the triggerman.); Craig v. State, 510 So.2d 857, 870 (Fla. 1987) (Trial court's override of life sentence recommended by jury proper even though codefendant who actually killed two victims received life sentence, because defendant "was the planner and instigator of both murders.")

The death penalty was the appropriate punishment in this contract murder and robbery case even though Archer himself did not pull the trigger, because, as the trial court stated: "It was Archer's motive, his intent, his purpose, his plan, his vengeance, and his procurement of the murder weapon which energized and enabled the others to carry out the robbery and the murder." (R 142).

#### ISSUE II

ARCHER FAILED TO PRESERVE ANY ISSUE OF THE INSTRUCTIONS EXPANDED NECESSITY FOR ON COURT'S DOUBT, AND THE TRIAL REASONABLE OMISSION TODELIVER SUCH INSTRUCTIONS SUA SPONTE IS NOT FUNDAMENTAL ERROR.

Archer acknowledges that the trial judge delivered the standard penalty phase instructions, including an instruction

- 20 -

that the jury could consider only such aggravating circumstances as were "established beyond a reasonable doubt" (T 86). Archer's "fundamental error" argument is an implicit concession that - as the record shows - his attorney failed to request any additional instruction on this issue or to object to the reasonable doubt charge as given.

The United States Supreme Court recently held that instructions which misstate the reasonable-doubt standard cannot be harmless error. <u>Sullivan v. Louisiana</u>, 508 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 113 S.Ct. \_\_\_\_, 124 L.Ed.2d 182 (1993). Archer reasons that the <u>failure</u> to define reasonable doubt must be more erroneous than <u>mis</u>defining reasonable doubt, and that if such error cannot be harmless, it must be fundamental. There are several flaws in his reasoning.

First, Archer overlooks <u>Davis v. United States</u>, 411 U.S. 233, 36 L.Ed.2d 216, 93 S.Ct. 1577 (1973), in which the U.S. Supreme Court found that the defendant had procedurally defaulted an issue which would have been presumptively harmful if preserved for review. The Court stated:

> [The cases relied upon by petitioner] all indicated a focus on the existence of the Constitutional right, rather than its possible loss through delay in asserting it. The presumption of prejudice which supports of existence the the right is not inconsistent with а holding that actual prejudice must be shown in order to obtain relief from a statutorily provided waiver for failure to assert it in a timely manner. [411 U.S. at 245].

In other words, presumptively harmful error is not <u>necessarily</u> fundamental error, and the mere fact that an erroneous reasonable doubt instruction cannot be harmless error

- 21 -

does not <u>necessarily</u> mean that a criminal defendant can raise the issue at any time, in complete disregard of the usual rules for preserving issues on appeal. See <u>Harris v. State</u>, 438 So.2d 787, 796 (Fla. 1983) (harmless error rule does not apply to failure to instruct jury as to necessarily lesser included offenses, <u>if</u> properly preserved for appeal by timely objection) and <u>McKinney v. State</u>, 579 So.2d 80, 83-84 (Fla. 1991) (failure to instruct on lesser included offense not preserved for review because no objection to omission). Moreover, even if "fundamental", such error would not <u>necessarily</u> be equally fundamental at both the guilt and penalty phases of the trial. See <u>Schlup v. Delo</u>, 130 L.Ed.2d 808 (1995) (less exacting standard of actual prejudice to overcome procedural bar where defendant is "innocent" only of death penalty than where the defendant is actually "innocent" of the crime).

Second, and more important here, <u>Sullivan v. Louisiana</u> involves a reasonable-doubt instruction that was not merely incomplete, but affirmatively misstated the law. Archer's contention that the failure to define reasonable doubt is more prejudicial than a misstatement of the reasonable-doubt standard is contradicted by <u>Henderson v. Kibbe</u>, 431 U.S. 145, 155, 52 L.Ed.2d 203, 97 S.Ct. 1730 (1977), in which the Court noted that an "omission, or an incomplete instruction, is less likely to be prejudicial than a misstatement of the law." Thus, even if it ever became the rule that reasonable doubt must be defined as a matter of federal constitutional law, it does not <u>necessarily</u> follow that a failure to define reasonable doubt would be presumptively prejudicial.

- 22 -

Finally, and what decisively blows Archer's definereasonable-doubt boat out of the water is this: he does not cite a single case which says that it is constitutionally necessary to define reasonable doubt. On the contrary:

> At least two Federal Courts of Appeals have admonished their District Judges not to attempt a definition.\*

> \*See, e.g., <u>United States v. Adkins</u>, 937 F.2d 947, 950 (CA4 1991) ("This circuit has repeatedly warned against giving the jury definitions of reasonable doubt, because definitions tend to impermissibly lessen the burden of proof. . . The only exception to our categorical disdain for definition is when the jury specifically requests it."); <u>United States v. Hall</u>, 854 F.2d 1036, 1039 (CA7 1988) (upholding district court's refusal to provide definition, despite jury's request, because "at best, definitions of reasonable doubt are unhelpful to the jury. . . An attempt to define reasonable doubt presents a risk without any real benefit.").

Victor v. Nebraska, U.S. \_\_, S.Ct. \_\_, 127 L.Ed.2d 583, 602 (1994) (Ginsburg, J., concurring). See also <u>Whiteside v.</u> <u>Park</u>, 705 F.2d 869, 871 (6th Cir. 1983); <u>Dunn v. Perrin</u>, 570 F.2d 21, 23 (1st Cir. 1978).

Whether or not this Court agrees with the notion that it is imprudent to attempt a definition of reasonable doubt (Justice Ginsburg herself does not, <u>Victor v. Nebraska</u>, <u>supra</u> at 603), nevertheless it is clear that "the Constitution neither prohibits trial courts from defining reasonable doubt nor requires them to do so as a matter of course." <u>Victor v. Nebraska</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 590 (opinion of the Court). Since there is no Constitutional requirement that reasonable doubt be defined, it follows that the failure to define reasonable doubt cannot possibly be fundamental error as a matter of federal Constitutional law.

- 23 -

Nor the opinions of this Court support Archer's do fundamental-error claim as a matter of State law. See, Esty v. State, 642 So.2d 1074, 1079-80 (Fla. 1994) (defendant's complaints about the trial court's reasonable doubt instruction not preserved for appellate review); Armstrong v. State, 642 So.2d 730, 737 (Fla. 1994) (absent objection, claim that reasonable doubt instruction invalid, procedurally barred); Parker v. State, 641 So.2d 369, 375 (Fla. 1994) (complaint about wording of reasonable doubt instruction not preserved for review); Kight v. State, 53 So. 541 (Fla. 1910) (failure to define reasonable doubt not error where there is no request for such instruction).

The foregoing leads ineluctably to the conclusion that the trial court's failure to define reasonable doubt sua sponte is not fundamental error as matter of federal constitutional or state law, and whether or not reasonable doubt must be defined on request at the penalty phase is an issue that Archer has procedurally defaulted.

The trial court did not err by delivering the standard penalty phase instructions, including an instruction that the two aggravators alleged by the State could only be considered if proved beyond a reasonable doubt.

- 24 -

### ISSUE III

ARCHER FAILED TO PRESERVE ANY ISSUE OF THE NEED FOR ANY OF THE ADDITIONAL INSTRUCTIONS AT ISSUE HERE, AND THE TRIAL COURT'S OMISSION TO DELIVER SUCH ADDITIONAL INSTRUCTIONS <u>SUA</u> SPONTE IS NOT FUNDAMENTAL ERROR.

As Archer concedes in his brief, he neither requested any of the additional instructions at issue here,<sup>6</sup> nor objected to the instructions delivered by the court. As the cases cited by the state in its argument as to Issue I demonstrate, absent an objection to the charge delivered or a request for additional instructions, this issue is not preserved for appeal. Rule 3.390 of the Rules of Criminal Procedure.

Naturally, Archer now contends that the omission to deliver additional, unrequested instructions was such fundamental error that his procedural default should be overlooked. He cites three cases in support of his fundamental error claim.

In <u>Wike v. State</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly S617 (Fla. November 23, 1994), this Court held that a trial court's erroneous denial of final closing argument for the defense at the penalty phase could not be harmless. Not only was there no jury instruction issue in <u>Wike</u>, but Wike timely objected at trial, and this Court's acknowledgment that the final-closing-argument issue can be procedurally defaulted, <u>id</u>. at S618, offers no support for Archer's claim that his jury-instruction issue cannot be procedurally defaulted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>o</sup> His requested CCP instruction is discussed in the state's argument as to Issue I, and his age-mitigator and great-weight requests are discussed in the state's argument as to Issues V and VI.

<u>Sullivan v. Louisiana, supra</u>, is discussed ante, and obviously involves a rule of harmless error specific to instructions misstating the reasonable doubt standard. Besides being irrelevant to other jury instruction errors, the case simply does not address any procedural default issue.

Finally, <u>Rojas v. State</u>, 552 So.2d 914 (Fla. 1989), is also inapposite. Cases involving jury instructions relating to necessarily included lesser offenses comprise a unique subspecies of jury instruction cases. <u>See Harris v. State</u>, 438 So.2d 787 (Fla. 1983). Moreover, <u>Rojas</u>, like the other two cases cited by Archer, does not involve any procedural default issue. <u>Compare McKinney v. State</u>, 579 So.2d 80 (Fla. 1991) (issue of court's failure to instruct on lesser included offense procedurally barred).

The State has already set forth in its argument as to Issue II why the trial court's omission to define reasonable doubt <u>sua</u> <u>sponte</u> is not fundamental error. Archer implicitly concedes that the omissions at issue here are less "fundamental" than the omission to define reasonable doubt. (<u>See</u> Appellant's Brief at p. 24: "Issue II involves merely the most obviously and easily egregious error the court made regarding the instructions it gave in this case."). The state would note that many of the guiltphase type charges he belatedly contends for would not even have been appropriate at this resentencing proceeding, much less required.

For example, instruction 2.02 tells the jury that the defendant in this case "has been accused of" the crime charged.

- 26 -

This instruction obviously is inapt; Archer had not only been accused, he had been found guilty of first-degree murder, as the court correctly instructed the jury at the outset of the case (T 222).

Instruction 2.03 tells the jury that the defendant has entered a plea of not guilty and must be presumed innocent. Obviously, Archer previously had been found guilty and no longer enjoyed presumption а of innocence. Instruction 2.04(d) (concerning a defendant not testifying) includes a warning that it should be given only if the defendant requests it (and Archer did not). Instruction 2.04(e) appears to be directed towards incustody statements by the defendant and no such statements were introduced at Archer's sentencing proceeding. In any event, there is no evidence in this record that any of Archer's out-ofcourt statements were obtained by threats or promises.

Instruction 2.05 tells the jury, among other things, that its duty is to determine if the defendant is guilty or not guilty, and that its verdict must be unanimous. These portions, at least, would have been clearly inappropriate to charge this resentencing jury. Instruction 2.09 also includes a jury unanimity requirement. Instruction 2.07 tells the jury that deciding a verdict is "exclusively" the jury's job. This, too, would be incorrect at the penalty phase. Fla. Stat. §921.141(3). Instruction 3.01 is a dubious instruction at either phase; the State would note that there is a pending proposal to amend 3.01 on the ground that it is "both insufficient and erroneous." Fla. Bar News, Vol. 22, No. 6 (March 15, 1995), Official Notice of Proposed Amendments to Jury Instructions, p.4.

- 27 -

Moreover, it is difficult to see what benefit Archer could have derived from some of the other instructions he now contends should have been delivered.

For example, Instruction 2.04(a), concerning expert testimony, would have provided no conceivable benefit to Archer because the only expert testimony concerned the autopsy and the ballistics comparison, and there was no issue about the cause of death or who killed the victim.

But whether or not any of these charges might have been appropriate at the penalty phase, or could have been appropriate if edited and modified, or could possibly have been of any benefit at all to Archer, none of them reaches down to the "very legality of the trial itself", and nothing here justifies a finding of fundamental error. <u>Smith v. State</u>, 240 So.2d 807 (Fla. 1970); <u>Ray v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 956 (Fla. 1981). Whether or not any of these instructions should be delivered on request at a resentencing proceeding is an issue that Archer has not preserved for review. <u>Wyatt v. State</u>, 641 So.2d 355, 360 (Fla. 1994). Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982).

#### ISSUE IV

TO THE EXTENT THAT THE ISSUE IS PRESERVED FOR REVIEW, THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY ALLOWING THE VICTIM'S WIFE TO GIVE VICTIM-IMPACT TESTIMONY.

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